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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	FRANK WAYNE MCCAW, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

STATE OF ALASKA,

                                                  Employer,
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)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200607903
AWCB Decision No. 13-0020

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on March 8, 2013


Frank Wayne McCaw’s (Employee) January 21, 2011 workers’ compensation claim as amended was heard on February 6, 2013, in Anchorage, Alaska, a date selected on October 4, 2012.  Attorney Michael Jensen appeared and represented Employee, who appeared and testified.  Attorney Patricia Huna appeared and represented the State of Alaska (Employer).  Other witnesses included: Joseph Lynch, M.D., Francis McCaw, Shane McCaw and Roberta Highstone all of whom testified by telephone.  The record closed on February 6, 2013.  

As a preliminary matter Employer objected to Employee claiming medical and related transportation expenses for care other than his request for surgery authorization at C3-4 and authorization for a computed tomography (CT) scan.  The panel orally overruled the objection and allowed evidence and argument on the care in question.  However, the record was initially held open to allow Employer to provide post-hearing briefing and testimony from its adjuster if necessary.  The adjuster testified at hearing and it was unnecessary the leave the record open.  During the hearing, Employer objected to admission of Advanced Imaging’s December 13, 2012 magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan report as untimely filed.  The panel orally overruled the objection.  This decision examines the oral orders, memorializes them and decides Employee’s claims on their merits.


ISSUES
Employer contended it was prejudiced by the claim for additional medical costs because it had not prepared for or briefed the issue.  Employer later argued a medical record could not be considered because it was not filed and served at least “five days before the hearing.”  Employer argued it was prejudiced because Dr. Lynch was not able to review the medical record prior to his hearing testimony.  

Employee contended he included the “medical” issue in his claim, filed and served bills, and argued Employer controverted all benefits related to C3-4.  He contended Employer could not be surprised or prejudiced.  As for the MRI report, Employee noted Employer filed the subject medical record on a February 1, 2013 medical summary, but the report’s face shows Employer’s adjuster received it on December 28, 2012.  

1) Were the oral orders allowing Employee to present evidence of all medical claims related to C3-4 and admitting the MRI report correct?

Employee contends his March 31, 2006 injury remains the substantial cause of his disability and any need for medical treatment for his cervical spine, including the C3-4 level.  He seeks an order requiring Employer to pay past-incurred medical bills addressing his C3-4 cervical level, and an order requiring Employer to pay for a CT scan and recommended surgery at C3-4.

Employer concedes Employee had a work-related injury and suffered permanent disability.  Employer contends although Employee initially suffered a compensable injury on March 31, 2006, which required two cervical surgeries, his injury is not the substantial cause of any disability or any current need for medical treatment to the C3-4 spinal level.  Alternately, Employer contends Employee is not disabled and does not currently need surgery at C3-4, though it may become a future issue.  Employer seeks an order finding any disability or need for medical treatment to Employee’s C3-4 spinal level is not compensable.

2) Is Employee’s March 31, 2006 injury the substantial cause of his disability from, or need for medical treatment for, his cervical spine at the C3-4 level?

Employee contends he is entitled to a CT scan and a foraminotomy at C3-4 as recommended by his physicians.  He seeks an order requiring Employer to pay for these medical benefits.

Employer contends Employee does not need the CT scan or surgery at C3-4.  Alternately, it contends even if Employee needs a CT scan and surgery, the injury is not the substantial cause of the need.

3) Should Employer be ordered to pay for a CT scan and recommended C3-4 surgery?

Employee contends he has not been medically stable since November 10, 2011.  Accordingly, he contends he is entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) from November 11, 2011, until he is medically stable following recommended surgery, and his permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits should be re-characterized as TTD.  Furthermore, Employee contends his §041(k) benefits received since November 3, 2012, should be re-characterized as TTD and he should be paid the difference in the two rates.

Employer contends Employee has been medically stable since November 11, 2011.  It contends it properly terminated Employee’s TTD benefits and began paying him permanent partial impairment (PPI) pursuant to its doctor’s rating.  Employer also contends it properly changed PPI benefits to 
AS 23.30.041(k) compensation as Employee is in the reemployment process and his PPI benefits were exhausted.

4) Is Employee entitled to a TTD award?

Employee contends he paid Dr. Soloniuk $626 for medical services rendered to the C3-4 level.  Employer contends it paid the same bill, reduced by the fee schedule, and owes Employee nothing.

5) Is Employee entitled to past medical benefits?

Employee contends Dr. Lynch’s employer’s medical evaluation (EME) report is equivocal and not adequate to support a finding Employee was medically stable.  He contends Employer’s controversion was therefore invalid.  Consequently, Employee contends he is owed a penalty on all TTD benefits awardable. 

Employer contends it does not fully understand Employee’s penalty claim.  It contends its controversion was supported by Dr. Lynch’s opinion.  Accordingly, it contends it owes no penalty and seeks an order denying the penalty claim.

6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

Employee contends he is not medically stable.  Accordingly, he contends he is entitled to additional PPI when the recommended surgery is completed and he is medically stable.  

Employer contends Employee is medically stable, rated and it already paid Employee PPI for a 15 percent rating.  As Employee has no higher rating, Employer seeks an order denying the PPI claim.

7) Is Employee entitled to a PPI award?

As an alternative to his TTD claim, Employee contends he is entitled to permanent total disability (PTD).  He contends he is not in the reemployment process because no one is assisting him in retraining and he cannot work; therefore his status should be PTD.

Employer contends Employee failed to provide any evidence he is permanently and totally disabled.  It contends he is in the reemployment process as evidenced by his receipt of §041(k) compensation and cannot be found permanently totally disabled.

8) Is Employee entitled to a PTD award?

Employee contends he is entitled to interest on all benefits awarded.  Employer contends as Employee is entitled to no additional benefits, he is not entitled to interest.

9) Is Employee entitled to an interest award?

Employee contends Employer controverted and otherwise resisted his claim.  He contends he should prevail and requests an order awarding appropriate attorney’s fees and costs from Employer.

Employer contends it properly controverted Employee’s claim and it should prevail on all issues.  It seeks an order denying Employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs.  

10) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On March 31, 2006, Employee hurt himself while lifting an electric motor and pump assembly weighing over 100 pounds while working for Employer as an engineer on the M/V Malaspina (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, April 3, 2006; McCaw).

2) There is no evidence Employee had any neck or relevant upper extremity symptoms before March 31, 2006 (record).

3) Employee had conservative medical treatment for his work injury (id.).

4) On February 1, 2007, Kimberly Page, M.D., performed an interior cervical discectomy at C6-7 with fusion, using a bone graft (Operative Report, February 1, 2007).

5) Thereafter, Employee’s symptoms persisted and worsened and he continued to receive conservative treatment (record).

6) On April 23, 2010, J. Craig Zoltani, M.D., and Joseph Lynch, M.D., saw Employee for an EME (EME report, April 23, 2010).  They diagnosed preexisting cervical degenerative disk disease “permanently aggravated” by the March 31, 2006 industrial injury; status post C6-7 fusion and discectomy, work-related; and progression in C5-6 degenerative disk disease and stenosis related to the industrial injury (id. at 9).  They agreed with a recent surgical recommendation for C5-6 discectomy and fusion and stated this surgery is also related to the March 31, 2006 industrial injury.  Employee was not medically stable and was unable to return to his previous job (id. at 10-11).

7) On May 21, 2010, Dr. Page performed an interior cervical discectomy at C5-6, with fusion using a plastic graft and plating system (Operative Report, May 21, 2010).

8) On June 8, 2011, Leonard Soloniuk, M.D., completed job descriptions by checking “yes,” and predicting Employee will have physical capacities to perform duties associated with “User Support Analyst,” “Network Control Operator,” and “Microcomputer Support Specialist” (Job Descriptions, June 8, 2011).

9) On October 21, 2011, Dr. Lynch and Eugene Wong, M.D., saw Employee for another EME.  They diagnosed preexisting cervical degenerative disk disease and cervical spondylosis; and status post C5-6 and C6-7 fusions and discectomies (id. at 21).  The EME physicians determined Employee was medically stable about six months after May 21, 2010, assuming Dr. Page commented satisfactorily on the fusion quality at C5-6.  The EME physicians attributed 15 percent PPI to the work injury (id. at 23).  They agreed with Red Bluff Physical Therapy’s functional capacity evaluation and opined Employee had physical capacities to participate in the reemployment training process.  The physicians further agreed Employee could perform “Network Control Operator” and “User Support Analyst” duties as they fell within his functional capacities.  They did not think he could perform the “Microcomputer Support Specialist” job because it exceeded his physical capacities (id. at 24).

10) On October 25, 2011, Dr. Page reviewed Employee’s physical findings, electrodiagnostic studies, and a recent MRI scan.  She recommended a diagnostic left C-4 nerve root block and a minimally invasive C3-4 foraminotomy (chart note, October 25, 2011).

11) There is a question whether or not the nerve root block was performed at the correct level (Lynch).

12) On December 13, 2011, Dr. Page reported Employee “responded beautifully” to a selective left C-4 nerve block with temporary resolution of symptoms.  She recommended C3-4 foraminotomies as part of Employee’s workers’ compensation injury (chart note, December 13, 2011).

13) On December 22, 2011, Employee filed an amended claim for TTD from November 11, 2010 and continuing, PTD, PPI, and attorney’s fees and costs (Amended Workers Compensation Claim, December 21, 2011).

14) On January 12, 2012, Employer answered by denying Employee’s claim for TTD, PTD, PPI, attorney’s fees and costs (Employer’s Answer, January 12, 2012).

15) On January 12, 2012, Dr. Page said Employee could not return to full-time 40 hour week work and was not medically stable.  She anticipated further improvement with additional medical care including surgery (letter, December 28, 2011).

16) On February 14, 2012, Employee filed an amended claim adding medical and medical related transportation expenses including surgery and a CT scan, penalty, and a finding of an unfair or frivolous controvert under AS 23.30.155(o) (Amended Claim, February 13, 2012).

17) On March 7, 2012, Employer answered Employee’s claim by denying all requested benefits (Employer’s Answer, March 7, 2012).

18) On March 27, 2012, Dr. Lynch provided additional opinions.  Employee’s physician proposed a minimally invasive left C3-4 foraminotomy and Dr. Lynch stated “yes and no,” this procedure was reasonable and necessary.  Based on his medical record review, Dr. Lynch could not confirm whether or not Employee has a C4 radiculopathy and therefore could not state the recommended procedure was reasonable and necessary.  It would be if a C4 radiculopathy were identified.  He cautioned against invasive treatment without positively identifying the source of Employee’s symptoms.  Lastly, in his opinion, the C3-4 condition was not a result of the March 31, 2006 work injury (letter, March 27, 2012).

19) On April 9, 2012, Employer controverted Employee’s right to medical or disability benefits related to or directed at the C3-4 spine level based upon its EME report (Controversion Notice, April 4, 2012).

20) On May 30, 2012, Employee filed a statement from Soloniuk Medical Corporation itemizing medical services to Employee on April 13, 2012, totaling $626 (Affidavit of Service, May 30, 2012).

21) Employer has paid Employee TTD for various dates including April 4, 2006 through November 10, 2011; PPI from November 11, 2011 through November 2, 2012; and paid benefits under AS 23.30.041(k) since November 3, 2012 and continuing (Compensation Report, December 4, 2012).

22) On September 4, 2012, Paul Puziss, M.D., performed a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) on Employee.  Dr. Puziss diagnosed a history of C5-6 fusion; C6-7 discectomy and fusion; severe left C2-3 facet syndrome causing occipital headaches; left atlantoaxial stiffness; and bilateral C3-4 foraminal stenosis, worse on the right.  The medical cause for his left dorsal forearm numbness is his C5-6 and C6-7 disk herniation, which was treated surgically.  His headaches are caused by his C1-2 and C2-3 facet syndrome.  Though Employee had some preexisting degenerative cervical spondylosis, the March 31, 2006 work injury “was the substantial cause which aggravated, accelerated, and combined with the preexisting condition to cause disability and need for treatment” (SIME report at 13-14).  In Dr. Puziss’ opinion, the aggravation produced a permanent change in the preexisting condition and Employee herniated two discs and required C5-6 and C6-7 anterior cervical discectomies and fusions.  Dr. Puziss focused on the C1-2 and C2-3 facet syndromes, designating these as “a major source” of pain and tenderness.  He opined Employee’s post-injury current complaints relate in “the substantial way” to his original injury and are the ongoing cause of his disability and pain.  Dr. Puziss recommended medial branch blocks at C1-2 and C2-3 on the left.  If these proved helpful, he recommended radiofrequency nerve ablation, which would likely be indicated and helpful.  No other treatment was indicated for the cervical spine and he required no surgery.  Dr. Puziss stated Employee was not medically stable.  He was not capable of working as a marine engineer without limitations or restrictions.  In respect to the C3-4 and C-4-5 levels, Dr. Puziss stated:

Indeed, the C5-6 and C6-7 fusions have led to some additional stress at C3-4 or C4-5.  I cannot state, however, whether these are actually contributing to symptoms.  Although greater stress is placed on his C4-5 level and/or even C7-T1, the patient requires no surgery at these levels, although it is not impossible that he might require surgery later (id. at 17).

23) Dr. Puziss said had Employee not been injured on March 31, 2006, he would not require treatment at C3-4 or C4-5.  However, Dr. Puziss does not believe Employee requires treatment at either of these levels at this time.  He stated: “There are no non-work-related causes of his C3-4 and C4-5 symptoms.”  Dr. Puziss opined most of his symptoms emanated from C1-2 and C2-3 (id.).

24) Dr. Puziss opined Employee did not need any further physical therapy, injections or blocks.  Though not medically stationary, Employee is capable of light work, which may increase, and he probably could return to full-time gainful employment 40 hours a week, in his opinion (id.).

25) On October 4, 2012, the parties attended a prehearing conference.  Employee clarified the issues for the February 6, 2013 hearing included: TTD, PTD, PPI, medical and related transportation costs, penalty, and attorney fees and costs (Prehearing Conference Summary, October 4, 2012).

26) On October 10, 2012, Dr. Puziss answered Employer’s written questions.  He opined Employee has physical capabilities to work as a: “User Support Analyst,” “Network and Co-Operator” (sic) and “Microcomputer Support Specialist.”  He agreed with Red Bluff Physical Therapy’s August 2, 2011 functional capacity evaluation and added Employee can lift up to 20 pounds to shoulder height.  Though Employee had not had any “objective medical improvement” for a period of 45 days as of September 4, 2012, Dr. Puziss anticipated some objective medical improvement with additional medical treatment.  Dr. Puziss noted Employee has not yet had treatment such as manual therapy or medial branch blocks.  “Absent these, the patient will not improve.”  With these, Dr. Puziss opined, Employee has a very good chance of improvement in cervical range of motion (letter, October 10, 2012).

27) Dr. Lynch is a board-certified orthopedic surgeon specializing in shoulders and elbows.  He reviewed approximately 750 pages of Employee’s medical records, did some research and performed an EME on Employee in April 2010, and in October 2011.  In March 2012, Dr. Lynch provided another opinion about Employee’s case.  Dr. Lynch examined Employee’s neck and upper extremity.  Objective findings in the October 2011 exam included “relatively normal” cervical range of motion, some atrophy, and Employee’s strength appeared normal.  Subjectively, Employee complained of tenderness and numbness, with decreased sensations over the entire left upper extremity, and had an absent left biceps reflex (Lynch).

28) Dr. Lynch understood Employee, on March 31, 2006, developed sudden onset of left upper extremity pain while lifting a pump weighing “40 to 60 pounds.”  He continued to work for a day or two after which he reported to the emergency room.  Employee presented with classic C-7 radiculopathy findings.  X-rays showed degenerative changes in the neck; advanced imaging studies suggested a disk protrusion at the C6-7 level and age-related degenerative changes in the cervical spine (id.).

29) Employee had cervical surgery in February 2007 and May 2010.  Thereafter, Employee had a series of injections, and conservative treatments including pain medications and physical therapy.  In October 2011, Dr. Lynch determined Employee was medically stable based upon Employee’s presentation, history, and medical records.  In his opinion, Employee had no objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days prior to the October 2011 EME visit.  He definitely had improvement from when Dr. Lynch saw Employee in 2010, but after his May 2010 surgery many of Employee’s symptoms had abated.  There were some changes on MRI scans, but in Dr. Lynch’s opinion these were normal progressive changes due to aging.  In his opinion, Employee needed no further medical care for his work injury.  As for the recommended C3-4 surgery, Dr. Lynch did not believe surgery was reasonable or necessary because Employee had inconsistent and equivocal radicular symptoms, unlike the stark presentation he had in 2006.  In 2006, Employee had classic dermatomal symptoms supporting his need for surgery.  Additionally, his 2006 MRI scans demonstrated an operable lesion at the correct level.  However, the current data “does not add up” in Dr. Lynch’s opinion in respect to the C3-4 level.  Employee’s history and examination do not match his diagnostic studies.  Employee has sensation loss in the wrong dermatomal pattern in Dr. Lynch’s view.  The most recent electromyography is “suggestive” for but not “conclusive” for a C3-4 radiculopathy.  These factors are not adequate in Dr. Lynch’s opinion to justify submitting Employee to another cervical surgery.  Furthermore, even if Employee has C3-4 radiculopathy, Dr. Lynch opined it is not related to his work for Employer (id.).

30) Dr. Lynch agreed the second surgery in May 2010 was related to Employee’s original work injury, because it is well known and very common for a person who had cervical surgery at C6-7 to have cervical disease in the level immediately above the surgical level.  The theory is surgery causes accelerated deterioration of the level immediately adjacent to the surgical level.  This is known as “adjacent segment disease.”  Furthermore, Employee had a clinically significant adjacent disease with appropriate clinical and diagnostic studies consistent with his subjective complaints (id.).  

31) By contrast, Dr. Lynch opined no additional imaging studies would support a work connection to the C3-4 level.  This level is not adjacent to his previous fusions.  Thus, in Dr. Lynch’s opinion, adjacent segment disease does not apply to Employee’s current request for medical care (id.).

32) Dr. Lynch reviewed the Red Bluff functional capacity evaluation done August 2, 2011, and concurs with it.  He opined Employee was capable of light to medium duty employment.  Dr. Lynch said this functional capacity evaluation was an accurate estimate of Employee’s physical capacities because it was more sensitive than what can be done in the office setting.  Furthermore, the therapist performing the evaluation said Employee tried his best.  Dr. Lynch believed the functional capacity evaluation was also consistent with what a person with Employee’s situation could be expected to do; he used National Football League quarterback Peyton Manning’s single level neck fusion as an example.  Lastly, the functional capacity evaluation was consistent with Employee allegedly moving appliances from his home and building a chain link fence (id.).  

33) Dr. Lynch stated Employee could perform the “Network Control Operator” job but could not perform the “Microcomputer Support Specialist” position because of the 50 pound weight requirement.  Dr. Lynch acknowledged Employee has neck pain and upper extremity symptoms, but his injury affects his non-dominant left extremity, implying it would have less impact.  He further opined Employee could do the “User Support Analyst” position (id.).

34) On cross-examination, Dr. Lynch conceded he specializes in shoulder and elbow surgery and has worked for “OMAC” since July 2008.  A colleague worked for OMAC and suggested he do the same to increase his income and to make him “a better physician,” since he has never had a private practice and is an active duty Navy physician.  Dr. Lynch completed his residency in July 2007 and his fellowship in July 2008.  He acknowledged doing defense medical evaluations almost since the moment he began practicing medicine.  He works two or three days a month performing defense medical evaluations, seeing 10 to 12 patients per day, in addition to his practice with the military.  Dr. Lynch sees about 20 to 30 patients per month with OMAC.  In Washington, he charges $300 per examination and in Oregon $400; the rate is somewhat higher in Alaska but he is not certain because OMAC sets the rate.  Dr. Lynch was previously stationed in San Diego California with the Navy, and flew to Oregon or Washington to perform defense medical evaluations (id.).

35) During his first EME on Employee, Dr. Lynch could not recall if he had actual x-ray films to review but he had the radiologist’s reports.  He concluded the diagnoses were work-related and agreed Employee needed surgery and was not medically stable.  The surgeons used two different methods on Employee’s neck at the two different surgeries.  Both methods, however, have the same purpose, which is to fuse the neck vertebra.  He next saw Employee on October 21, 2011 with a different lead physician.  According to his October 21, 2011 report, Dr. Lynch reviewed a 2006 cervical spine MRI scan.  He also reviewed electrodiagnostic studies showing a chronic left C6-7 radiculopathy.  The studies helped Dr. Lynch determine the necessity for the C6-7 surgery.  A person may have degenerative changes in his neck, without having any symptoms and Dr. Lynch has seen patients with much greater degenerative changes on diagnostic testing than Employee and had no symptoms whatsoever (id.).  
36) According to Dr. Lynch, on March 31, 2006, Employee had “some kind of event,” which caused an injury to the C6-7 level with supporting diagnostics and symptoms, which were all consistent.  Dr. Lynch is not sure Employee has radiculopathy at the C4 level as tests are “inconclusive” in his opinion.  It is possible for a person to have radiculopathy which does not show up on an electrodiagnostic test (id.).
37) During residency, Dr. Lynch performed an unknown number of cervical surgeries but not as lead surgeon.  He has not performed cervical surgery since he left residency.  Dr. Lynch would describe Employee’s C3-4 cervical level as degenerative related to age.  Findings Dr. Lynch identified in his report concerning C3-4 could be consistent with a C3-4 radiculopathy (id.).
38) Dr. Lynch disagrees with Employee’s physician’s statements on August 25, 2011, which state in light of his “flaring” with “modest household activities” requiring lifting, Employee is incapable of performing the listed employment because the work would exacerbate his symptoms.  Dr. Lynch could not understand how Employee could perform alleged activities including moving appliances and installing a fence yet is not able to perform the listed jobs.  He could not recall if he asked Employee about his activities.  Dr. Lynch had not seen the December 13, 2012 MRI scan or results from the medial branch blocks.  It would surprise him if Employee had a positive response to these blocks, because the February 14, 2011 CT scan described his facets as “normal.”  It is hard for Dr. Lynch to believe interventional tests in “normal” facet joints would evoke a positive response.  The “placebo effect” could account for Employee’s positive response to some tests (id.).  
39) Dr. Lynch opined Employee reached medical stability approximately six months after his May 21, 2010 surgery.  He qualified this opinion with the caveat: Employee’s surgeon should review and comment on the C5-6 fusion.  Dr. Lynch was not able to view the studies because his computer was inadequate.  He was unfamiliar with the device Employee’s physicians used at the C5-6 level (id.).
40) In Dr. Lynch’s opinion, Employee had no symptoms at C3-4 at the time of his 2006 injury, and if he has them now, it is irrelevant because they are not injury related.  In his view, when a person has age-related degenerative disk disease, it progresses at three percent per year and after 10 years there will be 25 percent progression.  Some studies show people who have had spinal fusions actually have slower progression than average age-related progression.  He concedes, however, Employee had no symptoms at the C3-4 level prior to his March 31, 2006 work injury.  In Dr. Lynch’s opinion, it is important for a proper diagnosis before subjecting Employee to further cervical surgery.  Dr. Lynch believes the medical evidence currently is “muddy” and not very conclusive in respect to C3-4 radiculopathy and need for additional surgery (id.).
41) Dr. Lynch agreed if Employee has C3-4 radiculopathy, a foraminotomy would be the correct, reasonable and necessary treatment.  This procedure would remove pressure on the affected nerve root.  But, according to Dr. Lynch, Employee has worse objectively identifiable problems on the right side, but no right-sided symptoms.  Employee has absent biceps reflexes on the left.  In Dr. Lynch’s opinion, there are three physicians in this case with three different opinions as to the cervical level at issue, and all three are recommending invasive procedures.  He suggests caution.  Regardless, in his opinion any C3-4 radiculopathy is not related to Employee’s work injury but is caused by age-related progression (id.).
42) Dr. Lynch conceded if Employee had confirmatory electrodiagnostic evidence of C3-4 radiculopathy and a positive response to a selective nerve root block at C3-4, he would agree the recommended surgery was necessary and reasonable (id.).
43) Dr. Lynch cannot “rule out” the March 31, 2006 injury and resultant two surgeries as the substantial cause of Employee’s continuing cervical pain.  Dr. Lynch concedes Employee probably has neck pain and part of this pain is from his work injury, but some of it would be there notwithstanding his work injury (id.).
44) Dr. Lynch considers a response to interventional blocks reducing Employee’s pain level from “9” to “5” is a “favorable response” (id.).
45) Dr. Lynch conceded it is not possible to determine when Employee would have had symptoms from the C3-4 spinal level but for his injury.  Degenerative disk disease’s natural progression in the neck does not rule out the possibility an injury could accelerate or combine with the degenerative process.  However, if that were the case, Dr. Lynch would expect to see evidence of non-degenerative changes on x-rays or MRI scans in 2006.  In his view, all one sees on Employee’s diagnostic tests are degenerative changes.  For example, Dr. Lynch opined there is no acute disk herniation or acute event causing pressure on a nerve root at C3-4 in 2006 (id.).
46) Dr. Lynch could not say whether the Red Bluff physical therapy evaluation determined if Employee could perform a light to medium duty job on a “full-time” basis.  Nevertheless, based on his understanding of Employee’s activities since his work injury, including allegedly moving appliances and building a fence, Dr. Lynch stated Employee could work full-time.  He was aware Employee complained of symptoms the day following the functional capacity evaluation.  However, Dr. Lynch discounts these complaints as subjective; he must rely on objective evidence (id.).
47) If Employee was Dr. Lynch’s patient, he would diagnose and treat his condition as follows: Order a repeat MRI at the C3-4 level; and order another electrodiagnostic study from a different provider (id.).  
48) Dr. Lynch misunderstood the pump’s weight, which Employee was lifting when injured on March 31, 2006 (McCaw).
49) On December 13, 2012, Employee had a cervical spine MRI, which demonstrated a moderate, diffuse disk bulge with associated annular fissure effacing the ventral cerebral spinal fluid space with contact on the spinal cord at C3-4.  It further showed at this level bilateral, uncovertebral hypertrophy as well as mild facet arthropathy with severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing.  The scan showed a broad-based disk osteophyte complex with the right paracentral fissure partially effacing the ventral spinal cord at C4-5.  There was bilateral, uncovertebral hypertrophy as well as mild facet arthropathy with severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing at the C4-5level as well (MRI report, December 13, 2012).

50) On December 14, 2012, Dr. Leonard Soloniuk, M.D., acknowledged cervical fusions may put more stress on adjacent levels, causing symptoms and in Employee’s case, given his two surgeries, “the answer is yes,” the surgeries put added stress on adjacent cervical levels.  Diagnostic tests showed Employee had abnormalities at levels above his fusions.  Dr. Soloniuk stated: “I believe that absent the injury and absent the surgery to treat the injury, those levels would probably still be asymptomatic whether he has degenerative changes” (Soloniuk deposition at 9).  Dr. Soloniuk further stated: “All of us in our fifties will have degenerative changes in our spine, but I don’t think they would be as symptomatic and disabling as what Frank is suffering” (id.).  He recommended Employee obtain a CT scan to determine whether or not the fusions are solid (id. at 10).  Dr. Soloniuk questions whether or not the C5-6 level fusion is solid.  Dr. Soloniuk is most concerned about evaluating the C4-5 level, and opined if surgery is necessary it most likely would be at the C4-5 level, but additional imaging studies would help answer those questions (id. at 15).  Nerves associated with the C1-2 and C2-3 levels may be causing Employee’s headaches.  Another MRI or CT scan, or diagnostic selected nerve root blocks would assist in determining whether the C3-4 or C4-5 spinal levels need surgery (id. at 17).  Dr. Soloniuk trusts Employee implicitly and opined his physical symptoms and limitations preclude him from performing jobs as a “Network Control Operator,” “User Support Analyst,” or “Micro Computer Support Specialist,” jobs Dr. Soloniuk approved on August 25, 2011 (id. at 17).  None of the suggested jobs were compatible with Employee’s reasonable limitations based on his symptoms and pathology (id. at 18).  If there are no surgical options for Employee, Dr. Soloniuk opined there was no employer who would hire Employee and he could not find full-time gainful employment given his limitations.  If Employee has successful surgery, with appropriate rehabilitation after surgery, he should be able to do any of the three jobs referenced above (id. at 19).  Clinical pinprick testing on Employee’s left upper extremity showed decreased sensation in the C-4, C-5 and C6 dermatomes.  This test shows there may be spinal cord or nerve root compression in those segments.  Furthermore, Employee’s left hand strength, notwithstanding his right hand dominance, was significantly weaker than it should be, again suggesting nerve root impingement (id. at 21).  If surgery is an option, Employee would make “very significant improvement,” and therefore he is not at “maximum medical improvement” in Dr. Soloniuk’s opinion (id. at 25).  In Dr. Soloniuk’s view, absent the March 31, 2006 injury, “Frank would still be working as a marine engineer” (id.).  In his opinion, Employee similarly would not need his currently recommended testing and treatment but for the injury (id. at 26).

51) On cross-examination, Dr. Soloniuk explained he changed his opinion about Employee’s ability to perform the three job descriptions he was provided because Employee had deteriorated significantly in the last year and a half (id. at 29).  His changed opinion is based primarily on Employee’s history of his pain flaring with modest home activities, and based upon MRI findings from June 24, 2011, including annular tears and disk bulging (id. at 34-35).

52) On December 20, 2012, Dr.  Soloniuk performed left C2, C3, and C4 medial branch nerve blocks on Employee.  On admission, Employee reported a “6.5” verbal pain level and on discharge reported a “2” verbal pain level on a scale of “0 to 10” (Procedure report, December 20, 2012).

53) On January 2, 2013, Employee saw Dr. Soloniuk for follow-up on his diagnostic procedure.  Employee reported the diagnostic left medial branch block was “quite effective” during the anesthetic phase, reducing his pain from “6.5” or “7” to no more than “2” out of “10” before returning to baseline level.  On examination, Employee’s cervical spine’s range of motion was extremely limited in all planes and he demonstrated exquisite tenderness on palpation.  Dr. Soloniuk assessed chronic cervical pathology, “status post cervical spine surgery syndrome on an industrial basis” (Soloniuk report, January 2, 2013).

54) Subjective pain reduction from “6.5” or “7” to  “2” out of “10,”resulting from a diagnostic medial branch block injection is a significant pain reduction (Lynch; Soloniuk; experience, judgment, and inferences drawn from all the above).

55) Francis McCaw is Employee’s spouse for 37 years.  Since about 2007 to the present, she has stayed at home working primarily as a foster parent.  Employee occasionally helps the children with their schoolwork but he cannot lift or play with them because of his neck.  Employee is “not doing well” in respect to his neck.  He occasionally sleeps two or three days straight to get rid of his pain when it flares up.  Employee has severe headaches, which sometimes makes him cry or throw up.  He sleeps in a reclining chair since about six years ago.  Sometimes the headaches last for two to three days; Mrs. McCaw thinks his headaches have gotten worse as his sleep has gotten less restful.  If Employee uses a computer at home, sometimes this will cause a headache to start after only 10 to 15 minutes.  His ability to use a computer has decreased over the last year.  Employee did not build a chain-link fence.  He was present and held a pole for a while until she and their son Carl made him stop.  Carl and she actually built the fence.  The only work on a car Employee has done was advising Mrs. McCaw and their son what to do.  Employee takes “a lot” of pain medications.  She does not recall Employee ever moving appliances; though they moved, their son assisted moving appliances.  Employee used to be able to assist his wife doing yard work of all sorts but he cannot do this anymore.  He now has difficulty even sweeping or vacuuming the floor, doing laundry or doing the dishes.  Employee had a hobby working on model airplanes; now he has difficulty working on them.  She does not think Employee could hold down a 40 hour per week job if it required him to move his arms around.  Mrs. McCaw thinks Employee would have headaches if he tried to work (Francis. McCaw).

56) On cross-examination, Mrs. McCaw recalled she and her husband working on a truck replacing a sway bar in December or January.  She was lying on the ground holding up the sway bar and installing the bolts and nuts.  He was telling her how to do it.  Their son also assisted (id.).

57) Shane McCaw is Employee’s 32-year-old son.  He runs a software company.  Shane has seen his father at least once a month over the last five years.  Before the 2006 work injury, Employee was very active working on his house, automobiles, and in the yard.  Since his injury, at times Employee has assisted Shane working on his home but only by directing him and telling him what to do.  Employee could work on the computer 45 minutes to one hour before he had to stop.  He would complain about his arm hurting and would take pain pills and lay on the couch.  Employee spends probably 80 percent of his day lying on the couch.  Shane has 18 certifications in computer system and software development, is well known, and is considered an expert in the industry.  In his opinion, Employee could not work in the computer field physically because it is a fast paced industry.  Shane spends 12 hours a day or longer sitting in front of his computer and it is very physically taxing.  In his opinion, Employee could not do computer work full-time on a 40 hour per week basis.  Shane moved in with his parents temporarily around December 15, 2012, and observed Employee regularly since then.  In Shane’s opinion, Employee’s situation has gotten worse over the last year.  He cannot play with the kids or throw them around anymore like used to (Shane McCaw).

58) Employee was a marine engineer for the State of Alaska for 38 years and last worked about three years ago.  He replaced and repaired diesel engines, hydraulics, electrical, refrigeration, and while working was first engineer and third in command of the ship.  His work included lifting heavy objects and working in close quarters.  Dr. Lynch was incorrect in his assessment of the pump he was lifting when injured.  Employee was lifting the pitch control pump which weighed approximately 120 pounds.  After replacing four or five pumps, he was on the last pump when he injured himself.  Employee initially thought his first cervical surgery was successful, but after his return to work he reinjured it and it got worse.  Employee performed some yard work while he was returned to work after his surgery.  However, he did not move appliances and had his son assist him.  Employee had no history of headaches, neck or relevant arm symptoms prior to this work injury.  His headaches have gotten much worse in the last year.  A recent headache lasted two and one-half days.  He can play computer games for about 15 or 20 minutes before his neck and arm start hurting.  In his opinion, he could not work full-time doing anything, including working at a computer.  Employee cannot even do light-duty housework.  As to the sway bar replacement issue, Employee was lying on the ground next to his wife telling her exactly what to do and she did all the work.  Employee cannot take his truck to a shop because he has no money.  He lost his house, he his shop and he everything he has.  On the fence building project, Employee held a couple of posts in the holes while his son poured concrete.  Dr. Lynch never asked him anything about his activities at home or elsewhere.  Employee put his model airplanes in storage because they had moved and their new residence does not have enough room for him to work on models.  In any event, he has begun dropping things.  Employee thinks his condition has gotten worse since the functional capacity evaluation in 2011.  When Employee performed the functional capacity evaluation, at first he felt he was doing pretty well.  The test lasted about an hour or two and about two hours later he returned to the therapist and told him he was in severe pain in his arms and neck.  He did not use a computer during the functional capacity evaluation and did not sit.  Employee does not think the functional capacity evaluation accurately portrays what he can do physically (Employee).

59) On cross-examination, Employee explained his March 31, 2006 statement was not detailed.  The electric motor weighed 40 to 60 pounds, but when attached to the pump, the entire unit he lifted weighed about 120 pounds (id.).  Employee started having headaches, though not like he has now, in 2006, but he did not report them to a physician until about two years ago because he did not think they were a big deal or related to his injury.  His physician told him they may be related (id.).

60) Employee was 51 percent sure he paid a bill for approximately $626 to Dr. Soloniuk for services rendered on April 13, 2012, and was never reimbursed for this payment.  He believes this was for trigger point injections (id.).

61) Employee’s physicians occasionally drew their own inferences from his historical reports about such things as installing a chain-link fence and performing other home chores (experience, judgment, and inferences drawn from all the above).

62) Roberta Highstone has been an adjuster for over 30 years.  She has handled State of Alaska accounts since 2003 and handled Employee’s account.  Employer received a bill for $650 from Dr. Soloniuk, processed it through I-Med, the bill was reduced in accordance with the fee schedule to $324.60, and Employer’s adjuster paid the physician’s office on August 15, 2012.  She signed the April 4, 2012 controversion notice, which denied payment for any treatment related to the C3-4 spinal level.  Since doctors do not separate the CT scans by spinal level, Employer would typically pay the bill for a CT scan even though it included the C3-4 level (Highstone).

63) The parties previously stipulated Employee could withdraw his request for a job dislocation benefit and proceed with the vocational reemployment process (Employer’s statement at hearing).

64) Employer has paid benefits under AS 23.30.041(k) because the reemployment process is “on hold,” as the rehabilitation benefits administrator (RBA) disapproved a reemployment and no further reemployment action has occurred since then (Employer’s hearing arguments).

65) Employee believes he is not in the “reemployment process” because no one has asked him to do anything in respect to the reemployment process since the RBA disapproved a reemployment plan.  Therefore, Employee argues he could be awarded either TTD or PTD benefits.  Employer says Employee is the reemployment process because he requested reemployment benefits and Employer is paying him benefits under AS 23.30.041(k) (parties’ hearing arguments).

66) On January 31, 2013, Employee itemized $31,003.50 in attorney’s fees and $5,102.53 in costs.  Employee’s attorney billed at $385 per hour and his paralegal billed at $165 per hour (Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs, January 31, 2013).

67) On February 6, 2013, Employee itemized an additional $2,535.50 in attorney’s fees and $37.35 in costs (Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs for Services Since January 31, 2013, February 6, 2013).

68) At hearing, the parties stipulated to Employee adding 6.8 hours of attorney’s fee time to his supplemental fee affidavit, which is an additional $2,618.  Total requested attorney’s fees equal $36,157 ($33,539 + $2,618 = $36,157) and total costs are $$5,139.88 (record; parties’ hearing stipulation).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) This chapter be interpreted . . . to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to . . . employers. . . .

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).  “An employee’s preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case (id. at 534).  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment. A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary. That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable” (id.).

Under pre-2005 law, a preexisting disease or infirmity did not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought.  Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Bd., 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  In Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 317 (Alaska 1981), the Alaska Supreme Court addressed the causation question in aggravation, acceleration or combination cases and held a claim is compensable upon a showing employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a preexisting condition to produce disability.  Id, at 315 (citing Thornton, 411 P.2d 209, 210; Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 595-96 (Alaska 1979); Hawkins v. Green Associated, 559 P.2d 118, 119 (Alaska 1977); Beauchamp v. Employers Liability Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993, 997 (Alaska 1970); 1 A. Larson, Workmen’s Compensation Law s 12.20 at 276 (1978)).   Liability is imposed whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability and a causal factor is a legal cause if “it is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm” or disability at issue.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 317.  The court stated, therefore, the causation question in Smallwood was whether employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with an employee’s preexisting condition so as to be “a substantial factor” in bringing about his disability.  Id. 

In Rogers & Babler, the Alaska Supreme Court discussed factors considered when determining whether an aggravation, acceleration or combination is “a substantial factor” in the resulting disability.  It adopted the “but for” cause-in-fact test in cases involving a preexisting condition and an aggravation, but held the test does not mean a claimant must prove “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not be disabled.  Instead, the claimant only must prove “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, the claimant must prove the aggravation, acceleration or combination was “a substantial factor” in the resulting disability.  Id. at 533.  
Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472 (Alaska 1991) suggests when a job worsens an employee’s “disease” so he can no longer work, that constitutes an “aggravation” -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying “condition.”  “It is basic that an accident which produces injury by precipitating the development of a latent condition or by aggravating a preexisting condition is a cause of that injury.”  Id. at 475; citing 22 Am.Jur.2d Damages § 280 (1988); see also, LaMoureaux v. Totem Ocean Trailer Express, Inc., 632 P.2d 539 (Alaska 1981).  “We believe that increased pain or other symptoms can be as disabling as deterioration of the underlying disease itself.”  Hester, 817 P.2d at 476 n. 7.

In DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000), the board denied an injured worker’s claim for a knee injury.  The Alaska Supreme Court, citing the board’s analysis said:

These statements tend to demonstrate that a non-work-related factor -- DeYonge’s genetic predisposition for arthritis and its natural degenerative progression -- caused DeYonge’s underlying impairment.  But we have established ‘that a preexisting . . . infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the . . . infirmity to produce the . . . disability for which compensation is sought’ (footnote omitted).  Dr. Frost’s explanation does not exclude DeYonge’s employment as a substantial factor in the aggravation of his arthritis.  On the contrary, Dr. Frost believed that DeYonge’s employment with NANA/Marriott did worsen his symptoms: ‘Certainly the type of duties which she performed as a housekeeper . . . would have been a substantial factor in increasing his symptoms.’  

In his conclusions, Dr. Frost distinguished between aggravation of DeYonge’s symptoms and aggravation of his underlying condition.  But in Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, we explicitly declined to differentiate between the aggravation of symptoms and the aggravation of an underlying condition in the context of a claim for occupational disability benefits (citation omitted).  ‘We reject the distinction . . . between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of the symptoms of a disease’ (citation omitted). . . .  Although Hester arose under a different statutory scheme, (citation omitted) the principle that we enunciated there -- that worsened symptoms may be compensable -- is equally persuasive in the context of workers’ compensation (id. at 96 (emphasis in original)).

DeYonge concluded: “Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been “a substantial factor in bringing about the disability” (id.; emphasis in original).  Smallwood, Rogers & Babler, Hester and DeYonge were based on the causation standard applied in workers’ compensation cases prior to the Act’s 2005 amendments, which imposed liability whenever employment was “a substantial factor” in an employee’s disability, death or need for medical treatment.  City of Seward v. Hansen, AWCAC Decision No. 146 at 10 (January 21, 2011).  

AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. . . .  When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

In 2005, the legal “causation” definition changed to “contract” the Act’s coverage.  For an injury occurring on or after November 7, 2005, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of all causes of disability, death or need for medical treatment and award benefits if employment is, in relation to all other causes, “the substantial cause” of the disability, death or need for medical treatment.  Hansen, at 11-14.  When all causes are compared, only one cause can be “the substantial cause.”  Id.  

In State of Alaska v. Dennis, AWCAC Decision No. 036 at 11-13 (March 27, 2007), the commission stated the “last injurious exposure” rule provides: “The last employer: (1) whose employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with the prior injury (i.e. is a cause in fact), and (2) whose employment is a legal cause of the disability is liable for the whole payment of the disability compensation.”  Id. at 11 (emphasis in original).  Dennis explained the 2005 amendments to the Act only modified the definition of “legal cause” from “a substantial factor” to “the substantial cause.”  The amendments did not abrogate the “last injurious exposure” rule itself, which still operates to prevent apportionment of liability of injury between or among employers.  Id.  See, e.g., Senate Free Conference Committee Meeting Minutes at 1:35:19-1:39:56, S.B. 130, May 21, 2005, remarks by Kristin Knudsen, Assistant Attorney General, Department of Law:

The board must look at the disability at the time the claim was filed or when medical treatment was occasioned by the employment.  If a person had 8 years of exposure [with a prior employer], continued to be employable and did not experience any symptoms, the subsequent employer would have a difficult time establishing that the latest employment was not the substantial factor in the need for medical treatment.  [Ms. Knudsen] emphasized the determination is based on the need for medical treatment at the time.

In 2005, the Alaska Legislature considered and rejected proposed amendments to 
AS 23.30.395(17)’s “injury” definition to state:

18 Sec. 42.  AS 23.30.395(17) is amended to read: 

19 (17) ‘injury’ means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the 

20 course of employment, and an occupational disease or infection that [WHICH] arises 

21  naturally  out  of  the  employment  or  that  [WHICH]  naturally  or  unavoidably  results 

22 from an accidental injury; “injury” includes breakage or damage to eyeglasses, hearing 

23 aids, dentures, or any prosthetic devices that [WHICH] function as part of the body 

24  and  further  includes  an  injury  caused  by  the  wilful  act  of  a  third  person  directed 

25  against  an  employee  because  of  the  employment;  ‘injury’  does  not  include 

26 aggravation, acceleration, or combination with a preexisting condition, unless the 

27 employment is the major contributing cause of the disability or need for medical 

28 treatment . . . . (http://www.legis.state.ak.us/PDF/24/Bills/SB0130C.PDF).
SB 130’s passed version, which amended AS 23.30.010(a) to its current “coverage” language including “the substantial cause,” did not eliminate “aggravations” from the statutory “injury” definition (http://www.legis.state.ak.us/PDF/24/Bills/SB0130L.PDF).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P. 2d 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).  An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether the injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).  After the two-tear mark, the board has much broader discretion.

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute (id.; emphasis omitted).  The presumption application involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or his injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second stage when the employer presents substantial evidence, which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at the second stage.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70 (Alaska 1985).  
If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient to rebut the presumption, it drops out and the employee must prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  He must prove that in relation to other causes, employment was “the substantial cause” of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 8.  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has sole discretion to determine weight accorded to medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., AWCAC Decision. No. 087 at 11 (August 25, 2008).  In determining whether there is substantial evidence to support a Board decision, a court “must take into account whatever in the record fairly detracts from its weight.”  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P.2d 859, 863-64 n. 2 (Alaska 1985) overruled on other grounds 741 P.2d 634, 639 (Alaska 1987) (quoting Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474 (1950)).

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

Egemo v. Egemo Construction Co., 998 P.2d 434 (Alaska 2000) held filing a claim prematurely “does not justify dismissal” of the claim, as the employer was not prejudiced or inconvenienced.  Id.  In summary, Egemo stated:

In our view, when a claim for benefits is premature, it should be held in abeyance until it is timely, or it should be dismissed with notice that it may be refiled when it becomes timely (footnote omitted).  In the present case, it would have been appropriate for the Board either to hold Egemo’s claim in abeyance until the surgery took place or to notify him that his claim was premature so that he would know to refile it after the surgery.  Id. at 441.

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney Fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded. In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc., 160 P.3d 149 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them.  Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).  Fees for time spent on de minimis issues will not be reduced if the employee prevails on the primary issues at hearing.  Uresco Construction Materials, Inc. v. Porteleki, AWCAC Decision No. 152 at 14-16 (May 11, 2011).  
AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation. (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . . .

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .   

. . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. . . . 

(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the time period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid.

. . .

(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. . . .

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Court may reverse “a finding of medical stability where a prediction of medical stability turned out to be incorrect.”  Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Alaska 2007).  Predictions which proved to be incorrect “were not substantial evidence upon which the board could reasonably conclude” medical stability had been achieved (id.).
8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000. If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . ;

Interest awards recognize the time value of money, and they give “a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due.”  Moretz v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 765-66 (Alaska 1989).  The court consistently directs interest awards to injured workers for the time value of money.  Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Assn., 860 P.2d 1184 at 1191 (Alaska 1993) (quoting Moretz 783 P.2d 764, 765-766 (Alaska 1989)); Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 at 1192 (Alaska 1987).  

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.  

. . .

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .

. . .

(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under 
AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.

(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim…

ANALYSIS

1) Were the oral orders allowing Employee to present evidence of all medical claims related to C3-4 and admitting the MRI report correct?

Employee’s February 13, 2012 amended claim included “medical costs.”  His claim is not limited to specific medical costs, as Employer had controverted all medical costs related to Employee’s C3-4 level.  The October 4, 2012 prehearing conference summary listed medical costs as an issue for the February 6, 2013 hearing.  Therefore, Employer was on notice Employee would be presenting evidence and making a claim for “medical costs.”  It could not have been surprised.  The oral order overruling Employer’s objection to Employee’s evidence on this issue was correct.

Similarly, Employer’s objection to Employee’s reliance on the December 13, 2012 MRI report is not well taken.  Employer received the report on December 28, 2012.  However, it never promptly filed the report on a medical summary, as required by law, until February 1, 2013.  Employer cannot complain of untimely filing.  Therefore, the oral order admitting the report was correct.

2) Is Employee’s March 31, 2006 injury the substantial cause of his disability from, or need for medical treatment for, his cervical spine at the C3-4 level?

It is undisputed Employee had degenerative changes in his cervical spine, which preexisted his March 31, 2006 injury with Employer.  Thus, this is an “aggravation, acceleration or combination with” case.  A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the disability or need for treatment.  Thornton.  Although Thornton, Smallwood, Rogers & Babler and DeYonge were decided prior to the Act’s 2005 amendments, their reasoning is persuasive, and still applies here.  

For example, Dennis stated the “last injurious exposure” rule still applies to post-2005 injuries and the 2005 amendments only modified the legal cause definition from “a substantial factor” to “the substantial cause.”  The 2005 amendments did not abrogate the “last injurious exposure” rule.  Id.  Analogously, the 2005 amendments did not abrogate the Thornton rule but simply changed the causation standard from “a substantial factor” to “the substantial cause.”  Legislative history makes this clear.  The 2005 legislature debated changing the “injury” definition to expressly exclude “aggravation or acceleration” of, or “combination with” preexisting conditions as “injuries” unless the injury was the “major contributing cause” of the disability or need for treatment.  The legislature rejected this proposed change.  Had the legislature wanted to contract coverage further to eliminate these kinds of “injuries” from the legal lexicon, it could have.  But, it did not.  

A)  Post-2005 “Coverage” Question.

Employee’s 2006 injury is subject to the current legal causation standard, “the substantial cause.”  If the post-2005 causation standard in AS 23.30.010(a) and Hansen is applied to the persuasive reasoning of Thornton, Smallwood, Rogers & Babler, and DeYonge in light of Dennis, the factual question in the instant case becomes: Did the 2006 work injury aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting cervical condition to be “the substantial cause” of his current need for medical treatment for his cervical spine, and specifically the recommended CT scan and foraminotomy at C3-4?  There is abundant lay and medical evidence addressing this factual question.
B) Did Employee’s March 31, 2006 injury aggravate, accelerate or combine with his preexisting cervical condition to be “the substantial cause” of his disability from, and current need for medical treatment for his cervical spine at the C3-4 level?

This issue involves a factual dispute to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Without regard to credibility, Employee attached the presumption of compensability his March 31, 2006 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting cervical spine condition and was the substantial cause of his disability and need for treatment with his testimony, his lay witnesses’ testimony and reports and testimony from his treating physicians Drs. Soloniuk and Page and SIME physician Puziss.  The physicians all opined Employee’s March 31, 2006 work injury either caused symptoms from a previously asymptomatic condition or permanently worsened his degenerative condition, causing his disability and need for continuing and current medical treatment at the C3-4 level.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability on Employee’s claim and cause it to attach.  

Without regard to credibility, Employer rebutted the presumption with Dr. Lynch’s testimony the March 31, 2006 work injury is not the substantial cause of Employee’s disability from, or need for treatment to his C3-4 level.  Employer rebutted the presumption of compensability, and Employee must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his March 31, 2006 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting cervical spine condition and is the substantial cause of his disability and continuing, current need for medical treatment at C3-4.  

Dr. Lynch testified the March 31, 2006 injury was a permanent aggravation to Employee’s cervical spine.  His opinion on this issue is credible.  AS 23.30.122.  The complete lack of prior cervical or relevant upper extremity symptoms also supports this opinion.  Employee’s March 31, 2006 injury caused a permanent aggravation to Employee’s preexisting cervical disk degeneration.  Consistent with Hansen, this decision identified all potential “substantial causes” of Employee’s need for medical treatment.  It must now weigh, compare and identify which one of all these substantial factors, in relationship to all other substantial factors, is “the substantial cause” of Employee’s disability from, and need for medical treatment for his C3-4 level.  AS 23.30.010(a).  Substantial factors identified by several physicians and radiographic imaging include: His age-related degenerative cervical disk disease and the March 31, 2006 work injury and related surgeries at two levels.  Only one substantial factor can be the substantial cause of his current need for medical care.  Hansen; AS 23.30.010(a).  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment at C3-4 and impose liability is a subjective determination.  Rogers & Babler.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the fact-finders determine which has greatest credibility.  Moore.  

The medical facts on this issue are peculiar.  Only Dr. Lynch suggests age-related degeneration may account for Employee’s continuing cervical symptoms.  Even so, he is more concerned with identifying the source of Employee’s complaints than he is ascribing causation to age-related deterioration.  Employee’s physicians, and particularly SIME Dr. Puziss, all attribute Employee’s need for any further cervical treatment to his March 31, 2006 work injury.  In fact, Dr. Puziss stated unequivocally there are “no non-work-related causes” of Employee’s need for cervical care.  On this issue, Dr. Puziss’ opinion is given greater weight.  AS 23.30.122.  Even Dr. Lynch could not “rule out” the March 31, 2006 work injury as “the substantial cause” of Employee’s need for more medical care for his cervical spine.  Lastly, the record is devoid of any medical evidence Employee ever had any neck or relevant upper extremity symptoms before March 31, 2006.

Uncontradicted lay testimony is similarly persuasive.  Employee, his wife and his son were all credible witnesses.  AS 23.30.122.  All three described Employee’s relatively vigorous health before March 31, 2006, and his lack of any neck and relevant upper extremity complaints.  All three noted Employee’s headaches, neck pain, and upper extremity complaints worsened considerably, relatively quickly, and progressively after his second surgery.  This lay evidence supports a finding the March 31, 2006 work injury is the substantial cause of Employee’s current cervical symptoms.  His symptoms disabled him and required medical care.  On balance, the weight of medical and lay evidence supports a finding the March 31, 2006 injury is the substantial cause of Employee’s disability or need for medical treatment for his cervical spine at the C3-4 level.  AS 23.30.122.

3) Should Employer be ordered to pay for a CT scan and recommended C3-4 surgery?

Having determined the March 31, 2006 work injury and its sequelae are the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical care addressing the C3-4 level, this decision must determine whether or not the recommended treatment is reasonable and necessary.  Hibdon.  Employee’s physicians recommended a CT scan and a foraminotomy at C3-4.  This raises the presumption.  Dr. Puziss said Employee did not need a scan and surgery.  This rebuts the presumption.  The credible evidence weighs in favor of a CT scan and foraminotomy at C3-4.  Employee’s physicians are satisfied clinical studies, diagnostic tests and radiographic imaging are all adequate to determine the source of Employee’s cervical symptoms.  His physicians are credible.  AS 23.30.122.  This decision will not second guess Employee’s physicians’ judgment.  Even EME Dr. Lynch agrees a foraminotomy is the appropriate remedy if it can be determined accurately that Employee’s symptoms emanate from the C3-4 level.  A CT scan is a recognized, diagnostic tool to identify bony lesions.  At least one physician said no doctor would operate on Employee’s neck at this time without a repeat CT scan.  Employee recently had medial branch blocks, which significantly reduced his pain.  These diagnostic tests support the inference Employee’s pain is emanating from the C3-4 nerve root.  A foraminotomy will enlarge the hole through which the nerve passes and reduced pressure on the nerve and resolve Employee’s symptoms.  

Dr. Lynch was surprised at the medial branch block results.  His opinion is given less weight because he is not a spinal surgeon and has not performed any spinal surgery since residency.  
AS 23.30.122.  Dr. Puziss did not have the advantage of the December 13, 2012 MRI report showing mild facet arthropathy causing severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing at C3-4.  Therefore, his opinion on surgery is given less weight.  AS 23.30.122.  The foraminotomy recommended at C3-4 is designed to remedy this precise situation.  Dr. Page’s opinion as the attending neurosurgeon is given the greatest weight.  She is most familiar with Employee’s situation and has performed two cervical surgeries on him already.  AS 23.30.122.  She recommends a foraminotomy at C3-4.  The weight of evidence favors requiring Employer to pay for the CT scan if it is still recommended, and the foraminotomy if still medically appropriate.  Therefore, the CT scan and the foraminotomy are reasonable and necessary, and Employer will be ordered to provide them assuming Employee’s physicians still believe they are medically indicated.  Summers.

4) Is Employee entitled to a TTD award?

Employee raises the presumption with Drs. Page, Puziss and Soloniuk’s opinions he is not medically stable.  Employer rebuts the presumption with Dr. Lynch’s opinion he is.  Similarly, the weight of medical evidence demonstrates Employee is not yet medically stable.  His attending physicians Page and Soloniuk opined significant, objectively measurable improvement is expected from further medical care, including recommended surgery at C3-4.  AS 23.30.395(27).  Dr. Puziss said he was not medically stable.  These opinions from several qualified physicians are credible.  AS 23.30.122.  It is undisputed Employee is currently disabled.  He is involved in the stalled reemployment process.  Even Dr. Lynch conceded his medical stability opinion was predicated upon Dr. Page determining the C5-6 fusion was solid.  This has yet to occur.  As Employee is not yet medically stable and is disabled, he is entitled to TTD from the time surgery was recommended.  Thoeni.  Employer began pain Employee PPI on November 11, 2011.  As Dr. Lynch’s opinion Employee was medically stable proved incorrect, Employee is entitled to TTD from November 11, 2011, until such time as he is medically stable.  AS 23.30.185.  However, since biweekly PPI is paid at the same weekly the rate as TTD, Employee has already been paid the appropriate amount for the period for which he seeks TTD, at least until PPI was exhausted on November 2, 2012.  Therefore, Employee’s remedy will be an order re-characterizing the previously paid PPI to TTD.

Employer began paying Employee AS 23.0.041(k) compensation on November 3, 2012, and this compensation continues to present.  However, §041(k) compensation is paid at a slightly lower rate than TTD benefits.  Accordingly, Employee’s remedy will be an order re-characterizing the previously paid and ongoing §041(k) compensation as TTD.  Employer will be ordered to pay Employee the difference between the TTD rate and the §041(k) rate.

5) Is Employee entitled to past medical benefits?

Employee raised the presumption with his testimony he paid the only bill Employee could identify at hearing -- a bill for $626 he says he paid to Dr. Soloniuk.  Employer rebutted the presumption with the adjuster’s testimony she paid this bill.  Empoyee was 51 percent sure he paid this bill.  However, Employer’s adjuster proved she paid $325.50 to Dr. Soloniuk for the same medical services, reduced pursuant to the fee schedule.  Both Employee and Ms. Highstone are credible witnesses.  AS 23.30.122.  It is possible both parties paid the same bill.  However, on this evidence, Employee failed to meet his burden and this decision will not award $626 to Employee.  He will be directed to show Employer’s Hearing Exhibit No. #2 to Dr. Soloniuk’s office and seek reimbursement from him if appropriate.  

6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

Employee’s penalty claim is based on his assertion Dr. Lynch’s medical stability opinion was equivocal and inadequate to support its controversion.  He raises the presumption with his doctor’s opinions stating he was not yet medically stable.  Employer rebutted it with Dr. Lynch’s opinion he was, subject to a doctor’s confirmation of a solid fusion.  However, Dr. Lynch’s opinion was clear in stating he did not believe Employee’s March 31, 2006 work injury was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment at C3-4.  Therefore, Dr. Lynch’s opinion was adequate as a legal matter to support Employer’s April 4, 2012 controversion.  Employee’s penalty claim will be denied.

7) Is Employee entitled to a PPI award?

Employee’s PPI claim is based on his assertion he is not yet medically stable and needs additional surgery.  As this decision agrees with Employee’s assertion, this is a legal issue to which the presumption need not be applied.  The PPI claim is not yet ripe as a matter of law.  In accordance with Egemo, the PPI claim will be held in abeyance until such time as Employee has surgery and becomes medically stable.

8) Is Employee entitled to a PTD award?

Employee made his PTD claim in the alternative.  Though there is medical and lay evidence supporting Employee’s current disability, he is in the stalled reemployment process and by law cannot be considered permanently totally disabled until he is no longer involved in the rehabilitation process under the Act.  AS 23.30.041(k).  This is a legal issue to which the presumption need not be applied. Therefore, his PTD claim at this time will be denied as premature, without prejudice and may be refiled if and when it is ripe.  Egemo.
9) Is Employee entitled to an interest award?

This decision awards Employee substantial benefits.  By statute, interest on benefits is mandatory.  AS 23.30.155(p).  Employee will be awarded interest on all benefits awarded in this decision.

10) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?

Employer vigorously resisted this case, controverted it and fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b) may be awarded.  Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting the most significant and complex claims in this case.  This decision awarding disability and future medical benefits for Employee’s C3-4 level is a significant benefit to Employee because medical treatment is expensive and TTD benefits are worth more than 041(k) compensation.

Mr. Jensen submitted two attorney’s fee affidavits.  The first itemized 114.7 hours of attorney and paralegal time, at a $385 and a $165 hourly rate, respectively, for a total of $31,003.50.  The second itemized an additional 6.2 hours of attorney and .9 hours paralegal time at the same hourly rates and the parties stipulated to 6.8 additional attorney hours on February 6, 2013.  Total costs are $5,139.88.  Total attorney’s fees equal $36,157 ($33,539 + $2,618 = $36,157).  Subsection .145(b) requires an award of attorney’s fees be reasonable.  Employer did not object to Employee’s attorney’s or paralegal’s hourly rates, or to any itemized hours.  Employer did not object to costs.  As Employee prevailed on the primary issues in his claim, and issues held in abeyance or on which he did not prevail are de minimis, he will be awarded $36,157 in reasonable, actual attorney’s fees and $5,139.88 in costs.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) The oral orders allowing Employee to present evidence of all medical claims related to C3-4, and admitting the MRI report were correct.

2) Employee’s March 31, 2006 injury is the substantial cause of his disability from or need for medical treatment for his cervical spine at the C3-4 level.

3) Employer will be ordered to pay for a CT scan and recommended C3-4 surgery.

4) Employee is entitled to a TTD award.

5) Employee is not entitled to past medical benefits at this time.

6) Employee is not entitled to a penalty.

7) Employee is not entitled to a PPI award at this time.

8) Employee is not entitled to a PTD award at this time.

9) Employee is entitled to an interest award.

10) Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.


ORDER

1) The oral order overruling Employer’s objection to Employee’s medical evidence and the oral order admitting the December 13, 2012 MRI report over Employer’s objections were correct.
2) The CT scan and foraminotomy are reasonable and necessary, and Employer is ordered to pay for them assuming Employee’s physicians still believe they are medically indicated.
3) Employer is ordered to re-characterize previously paid PPI to TTD.
4) Employer is ordered to re-characterize previously paid and ongoing §041(k) compensation as TTD.  Employer is ordered to pay Employee the difference between the TTD rate and the §041(k) rate for all past periods.
5) Employee’s claim for $626 is denied.  He is directed to show Employer’s Hearing Exhibit No. #2 to Dr. Soloniuk’s office and seek reimbursement from him if appropriate.
6) Employee’s penalty claim is denied.
7) Employees PPI claim is held in abeyance until such time as Employee has surgery and becomes medically stable.
8) Employee’s PTD claim is denied without prejudice.
9) Employee is awarded interest on all benefits awarded in this decision.
10) Employee is awarded $36,157 in reasonable, actual attorney’s fees and $5,139.88 in costs.

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on March 8, 2013.
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Patricia Vollendorf, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission. 

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of FRANK WAYNE MCCAW Employee / applicant v. STATE OF ALASKA, self-insured Employer / defendants; Case No. 200607903; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the on March 8, 2013.
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